Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-30-2016

Regan v. Owen Supplemental Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43848

A) Nature of the Case.

This appeal is about whether a County's issuance of a tax deed for a parcel of real property in Idaho wipes out all vested easements on the property pursuant to Idaho Code section 63-1009, including prescriptive easements. Appellants Brent and Moura Regan ("Regan") claim the issuance of a tax deed does not eliminate prior vested easements. Respondents Jeff and Karen Owen ("Owen") argue the language of the statute shows the issuance of a tax deed to a County disposes of prior "encumbrances," which Owens argue and in which contention the trial court agreed includes easements. Regan's timely filed March, 2016 Appellant's Brief provides lengthier exposition on the facts of this case.

In its opinion filed October 9, 2015, the trial court in this case held in favor of Owens that pursuant to Idaho Code 63-1009 vested easements are eliminated by a tax deed conveyance of the servient estate, and thus that the Tax Deed to the Orphan Parcel eliminated Regans' claim to a prescriptive easement across that Orphan Parcel. C.R. 69-77. The trial court entered a final judgment on October 30, 2015, and this appeal followed. C.R. 78-80.

The narrow issue argued in this Supplemental Brief is whether wholly, or to some partial extent the Idaho Legislature's passage and the Governor's signing of Senate Bill number 1388 on March 30, 2016 applies retroactively to the issues on appeal. Regans argue it does not so apply, but that this Court may account for the legislature's intent in reaching a decision.

B) Course of the Proceedings on Appeal Regarding the Narrow Issue Presented.

On December 10, 2014, the district court entered a partial judgment certified as final under Rule 54(b) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure (I.R.C.P.). Clerk's Record on Limited Appeal ("C.R.") 18. Owen appealed, and on December 18, 2014, this Court filed its opinion. *Regan v. Jeff*

D., 339 P.2d 1162 (2014) (a.k.a Regan v. Owen). In part of that Opinion, this Court remanded to the district court for further proceedings on the issue of whether Regans enjoy a prescriptive easement over the Orphan Parcel. Id.

On August 7, 2015, Owens' filed their third motion for summary judgment focusing on the prescriptive easement issue. C.R. 34. In its opinion filed October 9, 2015, the trial court ruled in Owens' favor that the Tax Deed to the Orphan Parcel eliminated Regans' claim to a prescriptive easement. C.R. 69-77. The trial court entered a final judgment on October 30, 2015. C.R. 78-80.

On December 10, 2015, Regans filed a Notice of Appeal from the trial court's judgment. C.R. 81-85. On January 27, 2016, Regans filed an amended Notice of Appeal from the trial court's December 17, 2015 amended final judgment. C.R. 90-94.

This Supplemental Brief is filed by Regan in response to this Court's denial on May 23, 2016 of the parties' Stipulation on Appeal for Entry of an Order. Ord. Ref. No. 16-200 (May 23, 2016). The Order denying the Stipulation provided 35 days for this Supplemental Brief to be filed, which date was calculated to be Monday, June 27, 2016. Id. Pursuant to the second sentence of Idaho Appellate Rule 20, this Supplemental Brief is certified to be timely filed.

C) Statement of Facts

The Court is aware of the facts of this case, but a brief iteration of select facts related to the narrow issue addressed in this Supplemental Brief is provided here. Regans own a 50.55-acre parcel in Kootenai County. C.R. 25. Abutting their parcel to the east is a 10.7-acre parcel owned by Owens. C.R. 25. Owens acquired their property through two separate conveyances. They acquired a 10.3-acre parcel from David and Helen Hanna by the Warranty Deed recorded in Kootenai County as Instrument No. 1781225 on February 11, 2003 (the "Owen Parcel"). C.R. 25. Later, Owens acquired a 0.4-acre parcel from Kootenai County by tax deed recorded in Kootenai

County on November 28, 2005 (the "Orphan Parcel"). C.R. 25. The Orphan Parcel abuts the northern boundary of the Owen Parcel along its entire length. A.R. 410.

Five parcels, including the Owens' and Regans' parcels, surround the Orphan Parcel, which was inadvertently created when the Original Grantors of these various lands deeded to the Marchelli Trust in April 1999. A.R. 464. The Original Grantors never conveyed the Orphan Parcel, and thus did not reserve an easement across it (as they did when conveying the other parcels).

An existing gravel roadway extends west from the corner of Bonnell Road to the Regans' property. The roadway passes through the Orphan Parcel using much of its area. A.R. 275; 283-85. The roadway existed when Regans purchased the property from the Marchelli Trust in March of 1999, being used since that time by Regans. A.R. 280.

The Original Grantors did not pay the real property taxes assessed against the Orphan Parcel. As a result, in 2004 the Kootenai County Treasurer issued a tax deed conveying the Orphan Parcel to Kootenai County (the "Tax Deed"). R. 67-68. Respondent Jeff Owen purchased the Orphan Parcel from Kootenai County by a County Deed recorded in Kootenai County as Instrument No. 1997638 on November 28, 2005. R. 69-70. Jeff Owen then deeded the Orphan Parcel to Jeff D. Owen and Karen A. Owen, husband and wife, using a Warranty Deed recorded in Kootenai County as Instrument No. 2294085000 on December 9, 2010. A.R. 409-10.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The narrow issue addressed by this Supplemental Brief raises both statutory interpretation and constitutional issues. The *CDA Dairy Queen, Inc.* case provides the standard of review:

'Both constitutional questions and questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law over which [the Idaho State Supreme] Court exercises free review.' Stuart v. State, 149 Idaho 35, 40, 232 P.3d 813, 818 (2010); citing Federated Publ'ns, Inc. v. Idaho Bus. Rev., Inc., 146 Idaho 207, 210, 192 P.3d 1031, 1034 (2008). 'The party challenging a statute or ordinance on constitutional grounds bears the burden of establishing that the statute or ordinance is unconstitutional and must overcome a strong presumption of

validity.' State v. Korn, 148 Idaho 413, 416, 224 P.3d 480, 483 (2009); citing State v. Reyes, 146 Idaho 778, 203 P.3d 708 (Ct.App.2009). 'The judicial power to declare legislative action unconstitutional should be exercised only in clear cases.' Am. Falls Reservoir Dist. No. 2 v. Idaho Dep't Water Res., 143 Idaho 862, 869, 154 P.3d 433, 440 (2007).

CDA Dairy Queen, Inc. v. State Ins. Fund, 154 Idaho 379, 382, 299 P.3d 186, 189 (2013).

ISSUE PRESENTED IN THIS SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF

Whether Senate Bill number 1388, as amended, which was passed in 2016 by the Sixty-Third Idaho Legislature in its Second Regular Session and signed by Governor Otter on March 30, 2016 applies retroactively to the issues on appeal here, and, if not, what "effect the legislation has as to this case." Ord. Denying Stip. For Entry of an Order Ref. No. 16-200 (May 16, 2016).

ARGUMENT

Introduction

Senate Bill 1388, as amended, was signed into law by Governor Otter on March 30, 2016. 2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 at 750, eff. Mar. 30, 2016. To facilitate ease of reading in this Supplemental Brief's text, but not its citations, Regan refers hereinafter to that enacted Act as Senate Bill 1388. That ten (10) page Senate Bill as enacted is attached to this Supplemental Brief as Exhibit A.

Regan's argument will examine the specific language of Senate Bill 1388 as enacted to determine whether the legislature meant it to be applied retroactively, then why pursuant to Idaho law and regardless of legislative intent Senate Bill 1388 cannot be applied retroactively, and thus why this Court does not have to consider any retroactive effect of Senate Bill 1388 on this case, except as this Court finds that Senate Bill may help this Court interpret Idaho Code section 63-1009 to reach a final ruling.

A. Senate Bill 1388 Does Not Mandate Retroactivity, but This Court's Compliance.

The Idaho State Supreme Court "freely reviews the construction of a statute." *Twin Lakes Canal Co. v. Choules*, 151 Idaho 214, 217, 254 P.3d 1210, 1213 (2011); citing *BHC Intermountain Hosp., Inc. v. Ada Cnty.*, 150 Idaho 93, 95, 244 P.3d 237, 239 (2010). In such an undertaking, which is not argued to differ from the interpretation of enacted session laws:

The statute is viewed as a whole, and the analysis begins with the language of the statute, which is given its plain, usual and ordinary meaning. In determining the ordinary meaning of the statute, effect must be given to all the words of the statute if possible, so that none will be void, superfluous, or redundant. However, if the language of the statute is capable of more than one reasonable construction it is ambiguous, and a statute that is ambiguous must be construed with legislative intent in mind, which is ascertained by examining not only the literal words of the statute, but the reasonableness of the proposed interpretations, the policy behind the statute, and its legislative history.

Id. (Citations omitted).

Senate Bill 1388's Section 1 provides, in pertinent part, the legislature's intent and policy behind the statute:

It is the intent of the Legislature to clarify the scope and effect of Idaho's statutes governing tax deeds. . . . It was never the intent of the Legislature to allow local governments to destroy valid property interests held by third parties in land that is subject to a sale or other conveyance based on a tax delinquency, except where notice and opportunity to cure is provided under the statute. Doing so would constitute an uncompensated taking of property under both the Idaho Constitution and the United States Constitution. The Legislature would never have intended such a result and, by this legislation, makes that clear. As its context should have made evident, the purpose of Section 63-1009, Idaho Code, and the other referenced sections, has always been to convey title absolutely free and clear of liens and mortgages of a monetary nature. It was never the intent of the Legislature to allow a local governmental entity to convey more than the delinquent taxpayer owned and thereby to destroy valid property interests held by others without notice and an opportunity to cure. This clarification brings the interpretation of Idaho's tax deed statute into line with the interpretation of similar statutes in other jurisdictions, as had always been the Legislature's intent.

2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 § 1 at 750-51; see Exhibit A at 1. The legislature's intent was "to clarify the scope and effect of Idaho's statutes governing tax deeds." Id. Regarding the effect of a tax deed conveyance, the Legislature states its legislative intent "has *always been* to convey title absolutely free and clear of liens and mortgages of a monetary nature." Id. (Emphasis added.)

The italicized language in the previous sentence is in the nature of clarifying language, i.e., "what I meant to say was," and not language indicating an intent to have a retroactive effect on previous tax deed conveyance transactions.

In Idaho, "a retroactive statute is one that changes the legal effect of previous transactions or events." *Stuart v. State*, 149 Idaho 35, 43, 232 P.3d 813, 821 (2010); citing *Engen v. James*, 92 Idaho 690, 695, 448 P.2d 977, 982 (1969). "The inhibitions of the state and federal constitutions with regard to impairing the obligations of contracts extend to contracts made by a state or municipal corporation." *Aberdeen-Springfield Canal Co. v. Bashor*, 36 Idaho 818, 819, 214 P. 209, 210 (1923); citing *Fidelity State Bk. v. North Fork H. Dist.*, 35 Idaho 797, 209 P. 449 (1922). Further, and disagreeing with the District Court's ruling in this case, Senate Bill 1388 makes it clear "[i]t was *never the intent* of the Legislature to allow a local governmental entity to convey more than the delinquent taxpayer owned and thereby to destroy valid property interests held by others without notice and an opportunity to cure." Id. at 750-51 (emphasis added).

The language of Section 1 avers merely to clarify the permanent intent of the legislature, such intent being confirmed to extend back to the original dates of the tax deed conveyance statutes.

Support for this legislative contention is in Idaho's Session Laws of 1911, when statutes governing the process of redemption by a delinquent taxpayer prior to the conveyance and sale by a local governmental entity were amended. Those Session Laws amended Idaho Code section 1773, and part of its language after amendment stated, "Upon the payment of the money specified . . ., and the giving of the deed aforesaid by the treasurer, any deed or certificate of sale

that may have been made to the count [] becomes null and void, and all right, title, and interest acquired by the county under or by virtue of the tax sale ceases and determines." Rep. Att'y Gen. 1911-1912 at 58 (emphasis added); citing 1911 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 10 at 27 re: I.C. § 1773 (1911). This accords with Senate Bill 1388's Section 1 language where it states, "[i]t was never the intent of the Legislature to allow a local governmental entity to convey more than the delinquent taxpayer owned," because since at least 1911 what a county owned upon seizing a property for taxes was never more than "all right, title, and interest acquired by the county under or by virtue of the tax sale . . . "I.C. § 1773 (1911). Because a delinquent taxpayer could not own property interests in his land belonging to others, such as easements appurtenant, a county would never acquire such property interests belonging to others when it seized the delinquent taxpayer's property for nonpayment. I.C. § 55-101(3) (definition of real property includes "that which is appurtenant to land"). Therefore, when the 2016 legislature stated it never intended the seizure of real property to pay delinquent taxes "to destroy valid property interests held by others," that contention has support in the Idaho Code as amended in 1911. 2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 § 1 at 750-51; see Exhibit A at 1. This accords with the legislature's 2016 contention that "the purpose of Section 63-1009, Idaho Code, . . . has always been to convey title absolutely free and clear of liens and mortgages of a monetary nature," and not to "destroy valid property interests held by others." Id. (Emphasis added).

Therefore, at least regarding the Section 1 language of Senate Bill 1388, the resulting statutory amendments should not be construed to be retroactive to affect past transactions. *Stuart*, 149 Idaho at 43, 232 P.3d at 821. However, neither the legislature's disclaimers nor claims in Section 1 satisfy the inquiry, and retroactivity may still be the effect of the 2016 law.

Section 8 of Senate Bill 1388 as enacted states:

An emergency existing therefor, which emergency is hereby declared to exist, this act shall be in full force and effect on and after its passage and approval. Being a clarification of existing law, the Legislature does not view the application of this amendment to prior conveyances as retroactive legislation. In any event, the Legislature expressly intends that these amendments shall be interpreted to apply to any and all conveyances by tax deed, past or future.

2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 § 8 at 758; see Exhibit A at 10.

The first sentence is a common emergency clause allowed by both the Idaho Constitution and Idaho statutes. Idaho Const. Art. III § 22 ("No act shall take effect . . . , except in case of emergency, which emergency shall be declared in the preamble or in the body of the law"); I.C. § 67-510 ("No act shall take effect . . . , except in case of emergency, which emergency shall be declared in the preamble or body of the law.") The legislature certainly has this "decision-making function that is uniquely legislative." *Idaho State AFL-CIO v. Leroy*, 110 Idaho 691, 695, 718 P.2d 1129, 1133 (1986). Regans argue this sentence does not affect the issue of retroactivity, because with it the law is only "in full force and effect on and after its passage and approval." 2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 § 8 at 758; see Exhibit A at 10. The first sentence does not trigger retroactive application of the amended statutes.

The second sentence of Senate Bill 1388's Section 8 disclaims retroactivity and gives the legislature's opinion: "Being a clarification of existing law, the Legislature does not view the application of this amendment to prior conveyances as retroactive legislation." Id. This sentence appears to be another way of the legislature stating, "what actually happened in those prior conveyances was what we declare here by our clarification to be what happened, and not what the Court apparently believed we meant when it gave its guidance to the District Court in the case of *Regan v. Owen* in 2014." Pursuant to this Court's definition, "a retroactive statute is one that changes the legal effect of previous transactions or events." *Stuart*, 149 Idaho at 43, 232 P.3d at 821. Idaho Code section 73-101 provides, "[n]o part of these compiled laws is retroactive, unless

expressly so declared." The language of the second sentence of Section 8 is in the form of an opinion that the legislation believes its amendments are not retroactive, while in the same sentence the legislature appears to desire the application of the new language to prior conveyances.

If the statute is not retroactive, how can it apply to prior conveyances?

Senate Bill 1388 amended several statutes, including the Idaho Code section 63-1009 at issue here on appeal. 2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 § 7 at 758; see Exhibit A at 10. "With amendments to statutes, this Court has stated that they will not be deemed retroactive in application absent an express legislative statement to the contrary." *Guzman v. Piercy*, 155 Idaho 928, 938, 318 P.3d 918, 928 (2014); citing *Nebeker v. Piper Aircraft Corp.*, 113 Idaho 609, 614, 747 P.2d 18, 23 (1987). In this case, the legislature does not desire to change the contractual terms of prior conveyances made by tax deeds, but would simply like to clarify that the property conveyed by a local government entity to a third-party using a tax deed could only include the property that entity was able to previously seize from the delinquent taxpayer. It is unknown whether any purchaser at a tax sale ever believed a conveying local government entity could sell property it did not own, and Regan finds no Idaho case law on that point.

"It is the long standing rule in this [S]tate that when the legislature amends a statute it is deemed, absent an express indication to the contrary, to be indicative of changed legislative intent." Nebeker, 113 Idaho at 614, 747 P.2d at 23 (emphasis added); see also, Lincoln Cnty. v. Fid. & Deposit Co. of Maryland, 102 Idaho 489, 491, 632 P.2d 678, 680 (1981) ("When a statute is amended, it is presumed that the legislature intended it to have a meaning different from that accorded to it before the amendment.") Certainly changed legislative intent would be found if the legislature expressly commanded its amendments be applied retroactively. However, in this case the legislature appears to expressly disclaim an intent to trigger retroactivity while expressly

claiming its intent was only to clarify the law with the amendments, in addition to commanding this Court to agree with it. 2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 § 8 at 758; see Ex. A at 10.

By the plain language of the Act, this Court can discern the legislature intended Senate Bill 1388 to clarify various statutes by amending them, because Section 1 of that Senate Bill states, "It is the intent of the Legislature to clarify the scope and effect of Idaho's statutes governing tax deeds." 2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 § 1 at 750, see Ex. A, p. 1. Thus, in the first sentence of Section 1 and the second sentence of Section 8, here the latter found at Exhibit A, p. 10, the legislature declares its intent to merely clarify the law, and not to have retroactive effect so as to "change[] the legal effect of previous transactions or events." *Stuart*, 149 Idaho at 43, 232 P.3d at 821 (defining retroactivity). Therefore, Senate Bill 1388 should not be found by this Court to be retroactive pursuant to reasonable interpretation of the first two sentences of its Section 8, however the third sentence remains to be analyzed.

The third sentence of Senate Bill 1388's Section 8 states, "In any event, the Legislature expressly intends that these amendments shall be interpreted to apply to any and all conveyances by tax deed, past or future." 2016 Idaho Sess. Laws, ch. 273 § 8 at 758; see Exhibit A at 10. The words "shall be interpreted" effectively confirm the legislature's intent that the legislation is not made to be retroactive, but instead that the legislature expressly intends this Court to interpret the amendments according to the legislature's opinion regarding the intent behind its clarification of the law. Id. Fortunately, this is impossible, because the legislature lacks such power.

Section 1 of Article II of Idaho's Constitution states the separation of powers doctrine:

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