### Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-1-2016

### Regan v. Owen Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43848

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

For instance, in *Sims v. ACI Nw., Inc.*, 157 Idaho 906, 342 P.3d 618, 625 (2015) in response to policy arguments from ACI Northwest and the Idaho Land Title Association to interpret a statute other than written, this Court stated "any change to the statutory procedure for mechanic's lien enforcement is best suited for the legislature." *Sims*, 157 Idaho at 906, 342 P.3d at 625. A harsh result for ACI, who lost its mechanic's lien, but that is the correct relationship between the judiciary and the legislature, and the relationship this Court should maintain on this appeal.

The district court recognized the proper branch of government to enact and modify legislation when it determined "[t]he rigid language of the statute may create inequitable or oppressive results, however, it is not the province of the trial court to rewrite or impose an application contrary to the clearly stated language." 43848 R p. 75. Despite the policy arguments raised by the Regans and the claim of inequitable results should the trial court be affirmed, this Court has made it clear that it will apply an unambiguous statute as written. This Court should reject Regans' policy arguments and affirm the district court's dismissal of Regans' prescriptive easement claim.

#### C. The Trial Court Correctly Rejected Argument Based on Foreign Law

The district court was correct in rejecting arguments based on foreign law to interpret I.C. § 63-1009 because the statute is clear and unambiguous. The goal of statutory interpretation is to ascertain legislative intent. *State v. Schulz*, 151 Idaho 863, 866, 264 P.3d 970, 973 (2011). "When the statutory language is unambiguous, courts **must** give effect to the legislature's clearly expressed intent without engaging in statutory construction." *Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 159 Idaho at 86-87, 356 P.3d at 379-80 (emphasis added). When a statute is unambiguous, there is no reason to consult legislative history or other extrinsic evidence "for the purpose of altering the clearly expressed intent of the legislature." *City of Sun Valley*, 123 Idaho at 667, 851 P.2d at 963.

Likewise, foreign law is not controlling in this state and should only be used when "confronted with matters of first impression involving Idaho statutes, this Court may glean insight from the interpretations of sister states concerning **similar or identical statutes**." *Curlee v. Kootenai Cty. Fire & Rescue*, 148 Idaho 391, 396, 224 P.3d 458, 463 (2008) (emphasis added). Even then, the foreign law is only persuasive and this Court may refuse to adopt the foreign construction. *Id*.

Regans argue that interpreting "encumbrances" to exclude easements would "place Idaho among the majority of courts in other jurisdictions holding that a tax sale does not extinguish prior vested easements." Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 17. However, because the language of I.C. § 63-1009 is plain and unambiguous as discussed above, there is no need to consult sources extrinsic to the statute. Furthermore, the foreign authority cited by Regans is not based on a similar or identical statute to I.C. § 63-1009, and therefore should not be considered by this Court in its analysis.

None of the foreign law cited by Regans is based on a statute similar or identical to I.C. § 63-1009. Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 17-19; *compare Marshall v. Burker*, 162 H.H. 560, 34 A.3d 705 (H.H. 2011); *Hearn v. Autumn Woods Office Park Prop. Owners Ass'n*, 757 So.2d 155 (Miss. 1999); *Alvin v. Johnson*, 241 Minn. 257, 63 N.W.2d 22 (Minn. 1954). Those cases are not based on statute, but simply state common law. The district court recognized the same when it said "[i]t is well recognized that the law of foreign jurisdictions is not controlling and the Court is precluded from considering the foreign law where the law in Idaho is clear." 43848 R p. 74. This Court has no reason to consider the common law of foreign jurisdictions in applying a clear and unambiguous Idaho statute. This Court should reject Regans' invitation to apply foreign law, and should affirm the district court's final judgment dismissing the Regans' prescriptive easement claim.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO OWENS WITHOUT CONSIDERING IDAHO CODE SECTION 55-603 BECAUSE THAT ISSUE WAS NEVER RAISED TO THE DISTRICT COURT AND IDAHO CODE SECTION 63-1009 CONTROLS IN THE CASE OF CONFLICT

Regans claim error due to the district court's failure to consider I.C. § 55-603 in its decision to grant summary judgment. Application of I.C. § 55-603 was never raised to the district court.

Even if it had been raised, I.C. § 63-1009 controls over I.C. § 55-603 because it is a more specific and recent statute.

This Court has consistently held that it "will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." *Row v. State*, 135 Idaho 573, 580, 21 P.3d 895, 902 (2001); *State v. Fodge*, 121 Idaho 192, 824 P.2d 123 (1992). Whether the district court's application of I.C. § 63-1009 conflicts with and violates I.C. § 55-603 was never raised below. Regans admit the same in their Opening Brief: "the trial court did not receive argument on or address in its opinion whether the easement passed with the tax sale pursuant to Idaho Code section 55-603." Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 12. Since this Court does not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal, the Court should not consider whether the district court's final judgment violated or conflicted with I.C. § 55-603.

If this Court is inclined to entertain this new issue on appeal, the Court should uphold the district court's final judgment because it relied upon the appropriate controlling statute. There is a longstanding and foundational rule of statutory construction that when two statutes conflict, the more specific statute controls over the more general statute. *Ausman v. State*, 124 Idaho 839, 842, 864 P.2d 1126, 1129 (1993); *Estate of Collins v. Geist*, 143 Idaho 821, 827, 153 P.3d 1167, 1173 (2007); *Gooding Cty. v. Wybenga*, 137 Idaho 201, 204, 46 P.3d 18, 21 (2002); *Tuttle v. Wayment Farms, Inc.*, 131 Idaho 105, 108, 952 P.2d 1241, 1244 (1998); *Richardson v. One 1972 GMC Pickup*, 121 Idaho 599, 602, 826 P.2d 1311, 1314 (1992); *Walker v. Shoshone County*, 112 Idaho 991, 994, 739 P.2d 290, 293 (1987); *Mickelsen v. City of Rexburg*, 101 Idaho 305, 307, 612 P.2d 542, 544 (1980); *Guillard v. Department of Employment*, 100 Idaho 647, 650, 603 P.2d 981, 984 (1979); *State v. Roderick*, 85 Idaho 80, 84, 375 P.2d 1005, 1007 (1962); *John Hancock Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Neill*, 79 Idaho 385, 396, 319 P.2d 195, 199 (1957).

A related rule of statutory construction is that when two statutes conflict, the more recent statute will control. *Roe v. Harris*, 128 Idaho 569, 572, 917 P.2d 403, 406 (1996); *Tomich v. City of Pocatello*, 127 Idaho 394, 400, 901 P.2d 501, 507 (1995); *Mickelsen*, 101 Idaho at 307, 612 P.2d at 544; *Dana, Larson, Roubal & Assocs. v. Board of Comm'rs of Canyon County*, 124 Idaho 794, 801, 864 P.2d 632, 639 (Ct.App.1993).

I.C. § 55-603 and its predecessor statutes have existed unchanged since enacted in 1887. See Russell v. Irish, 20 Idaho 194, 118 P. 501, 503 (1911); Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 12. Idaho Code Section 55-603 relates to the continuing existence of existing easements following a transfer of real property. In contrast, I.C. § 63-1009 as it previously existed was enacted in 1996 and related only to transfers of real property by tax deed conveyance. It created a specific exception to the general rule in I.C. § 55-603. Idaho Code Section 63-1009 was limited to transfers of real property by tax deed for the previous 20 years. Because I.C. § 63-1009 was a more recent statute and more specific regarding the effect of conveyance by a tax deed on the continuing existence of an encumbrance, it was controlling over I.C. § 55-602.

Further, Regans recognize where two statutes on the same subject "can be reconciled and construed as to give effect to both, no repeal occurs, and it is the duty of the courts to so construe them." *State v. Roderick*, 85 Idaho 80, 84, 375 P.2d 1005, 1007 (1962). Regans also acknowledge that courts must interpret statutes "under the assumption the legislature knew of all legal precedent and other statutes in existence at the time the statutes were passed." *City of Sandpoint Indep. Highway Dist.*, 126 Idaho 145, 150, 879 P.2d 1078, 1083 (1994).

Following these established principles of statutory construction support the trial court's decision. Interpreting I.C. § 63-1009 to convey real property free of easements that are not essential to the enjoyment of the land or do not enhance the land's value does not implicitly repeal

I.C. § 55-603 as implied by Regans. Appellants' Opening Brief, 13-14. It simply created an exception to the general rule set forth in I.C. § 55-603 in the limited circumstances of a conveyance of real property by tax deed. Both statutes are still given effect and there is no nullification or repeal. Further, it follows the axiom that the legislature knew the meaning of encumbrances based upon prior case law when it passed I.C. § 63-1009. Therefore, the district court did not err in holding that the Regans' prescriptive easement on the Orphan was an encumbrance extinguished by tax deed and this Court should affirm the dismissal of Regans' claim for prescriptive easement.

## V. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO ADDRESS THE VALIDITY OF THE TAX DEED

Regans claim error below because the district court failed to find the tax deed invalid. The district court did not err in giving full effect and validity to the tax deed because its validity was never challenged. As previously argued, this Court has repeatedly held that it "will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." *Row*, 135 Idaho at 580, 21 P.3d at 902; *Fodge*, 121 Idaho at 192, 824 P.2d at 123. The validity of the tax deed conveying the Orphan Parcel to Kootenai County was not raised below. Therefore, this Court should not consider the issue on appeal.

Further, even if the tax deed issue was raised below, Regans argument lacks merit. Regans acknowledge I.C. § 63-1006(6)(c) provides that a tax dee can include the tax number. The Owens tax deed at the top contains the tax assessors number immediately below the Exhibit "A", and identifies it as Parcel # 50N03W-27-7160.

Further, the legal description does not reference "extrinsic evidence" as argued by Regans. Regans rely upon *Wasden v. Foell*, 63 Idaho 83, 89, 117 P.2d 465, 468 (1941) for the proposition that the legal description must not refer to other recorded documents because such references are extrinsic facts. This was not the holding of *Wasden v. Foell*. In *Wasden v. Foell, supra*, this Court

found a tax deed legal description was insufficient because it referenced a plat that did not exist. The Court in *Wasden v. Foell* examined the recorded plats to make its determination the legal description was insufficient. It was not critical of a deed that referenced recorded plats. It was critical of a deed that referenced no recorded plat.

In *Meneice v. The Blackstone Mining Company, Ltd.*, 22 Idaho 451, 121 P.2d 450 (1942), the Court again examined the sufficiency of a legal description. The Court found a legal description was insufficient if one could not examine the record and acquire sufficient data to enable him to locate the land taxed. *Id.* at 417-48, 121 P.2d at 451-452. Following this opinion, this Court issued the opinion that "[t]he applicable rule is that a description in an assessment, and tax proceedings based thereon, is sufficient if it contains enough information to enable one to locate the land taxed. *Wilson v. Jarron*, 23 Idaho 563, 131 P. 12; *Meneice v. Blackstone Mining Co.*, 63 Idaho 413, 121 P.2d 450." *Kelson v. Drainage Dist. No. 10 Boundary County*, 77 Idaho 320, 291 P.2d 867, 869 (1955).

In this matter, the record demonstrates a surveyor was able to examine the deed and record to create a survey of the parcel. 40848 R p. 283. Further, the calls in the deed all reference recorded instruments. 40848 R p. 70. The record shows information sufficient to enable one to located the Orphan Parcel as the land taxed.

## VI. REGANS' DUE PROCESS ISSUE SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED BY THIS COURT

Another claim of error by Regans is the district court's failure to properly address their due process claim. Regans failed to develop a due process claim in their opposition memorandum to Owens' summary judgment other than a statement made in passing that termination of the alleged prescriptive easement would be inequitable and a taking of property without due process or just

compensation. It was merely mentioned in passing such a result would be inequitable. R 43848 p. 42.

Regans contend on appeal that their due process rights were violated because they were not given any notice of the tax sale of the Orphan Parcel. Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 26. Yet Regans provide this Court with no citation to evidence in the record to support their claim they did not receive notice of the tax sale. That is because the record is devoid of any such evidence. Accordingly, this Court must reject Regans' due process argument because it lacks factual support and was not properly raised below. For these reasons, this Court should affirm the district court's dismissal of the Regans' prescriptive easement claim.

# VII. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO OWENS WITHOUT CONSIDERING RELOCATION OF THE EXPRESS EASEMENT

Regans assert the trial court erred by failing to consider relocation of the express easement to the Orphan Parcel on remand. The district court did not err in granting Owens' Third Motion for Summary Judgment without considering relocation of the express easement. The trial court previously relocated the easement based upon the deed reformation, which was reversed by this Court in the first appeal. *Regan*, 157 Idaho at 761-762, 339 P.3d at 1165-1166. Following remand, the Regans did not raise the issue again.

## A. The Relocation of the Express Easement Resulting from Deed Reformation was Decided by this Court in its Prior Decision

One of the issues raised in the first appeal was whether the district court erred in reforming the Owens' deed, which resulted in relocating the express easement to the Orphan Parcel. *Regan*, 157 Idaho at 761-762, 339 P.3d at 1165-1166. The Court rejected the mutual mistake and deed reformation arguments for several reasons. *Id.* at 762-765, 339 P.3d at 1166-1169. This Court vacated the portion of the district court's amended judgment reforming the Owens' deed. *Id.* at

765, 339 P.3d at 1169. This Court remanded to the district court for further proceedings consistent with its decision. *Id*.

Regans' sole remaining claim raised in their complaint on remand was their claim to a prescriptive easement claim for the benefit of four parcels of land they owned. 43848 R p. 23. Following remand, Regans did not raise the issue of relocation of the easement to the district court, nor did they seek to amend their complaint to add such a cause of action.

One reason this Court rejected the Regans' deed reformation argument on the first appeal is because that claim was extinguished by the tax deed for the Orphan Parcel to Kootenai County:

The tax deed conveyed absolute title to the County free of encumbrances... When the county received the tax deed to the Orphan Parcel, that cut off any claim to reform the Owen Parcel so that it included the Orphan Parcel. The county was at that point the absolute owner of the Orphan Parcel. When the Owens later purchased the Orphan Parcel, they received the title that the county had.

Regan, 157 Idaho at 764, 339 P.3d at (emphasis added). This Court has already held that all claims of Regans to reform the Orphan Parcel have been extinguished by tax sale. This issue has been decided and is inappropriate here on the second appeal.

#### B. The Issue of Easement Relocation was Not Raised Below Following Remand

Regans further complain the district court failed to consider relocation of the easement under I.C. § 55-605. The district court did not err in granting summary judgment for Owens without considering whether the express easement could be relocated pursuant to I.C. § 55-605 because that issue was never raised below. Again, this Court has repeatedly held that it "will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." *Row*, 135 Idaho at 580, 21 P.3d at 902; *Fodge*, 121 Idaho at 192, 824 P.2d at 123.

Following remand from the first appeal the sole remaining claim for trial was Regans' prescriptive easement claim. Regans never raised relocation of their express easement below, either through a motion to amend the complaint or in opposition to Owens' summary judgment.

Regans never mentioned I.C. § 55-605 as authority to support relocation of their express easement. Regans never mentioned I.C. § 55-313 as a basis for relocation of the express easement. Relocation of the express easement was not within the scope of remand and was not an issue raised below. Therefore, this Court should not consider that issue here on appeal.

#### C. Idaho Code Section 55-605 is Inapplicable to the Facts of this Case

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